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Abstract: 
 
The Sepulveda/Mott Collection consists of some 150 letters from various persons to Francisca 
Sepulveda de Carrillo (between 1845 and the 1890’s), personal correspondence of Thomas 
Dillingham Mott and family (chiefly Ascension Sepulveda de Mott and Georgia Mott de Van der 
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Biographical Note: 
 
Francisca and Ascension Sepulveda were sisters.  Their father, Jose Antonio Andres Sepulveda 
(1803-1875) was landowner to a large swath of Los Angeles County, including parts of today’s 
Orange County.  They were descendants of the prominent Spanish Mexican Sepúlveda family in 
the early days of Alta California in present day Southern California. 
 
Thomas Dillingham Mott (July 30, 1829 -February 19, 1904) married Ascension Sepulveda.  He 
was the son of John Rogers Mott and Abigail Hathaway Dillingham.  His brother was Stephen 
Hathaway Mott.   
 
Maria Ascension “Chonita” Jacinta Sepulveda (February 15, 1844–December 1923) was the 
daughter of Jose Antonio Andres Sepulveda and Maria Francisca De Paula Avila.  She was the 
mother of Georgiana Francisca Mott, Thomas Dillingham Mott II and three other children (total 
number of children was eleven, but only five reached maturity.)  
    
Henry Van Der Leck – Son of Lorenzo Leck.  Married Georgiana Mott. 
 
Raho, Padre (Father) Blas – Blas Raho, C.M. (1806-1862)  In 1856, he “was named pastor of 
Nuestra Senora de Los Angeles.  He began at once to redecorate the church.  Once commentator 
noted that “the historic edifice, so long unchanged, was practically rebuilt.  The front adobe wall, 
which had become damaged by rains, was taken down and reconstructed of brick: some 
alterations were made in the tower; and the interesting old tiled roof was replaced—to the intense 
regret of later and more appreciative generations—whith modern, less durable shingles.””  Father 
Raho also aided in the marriage of Thomas Dillingham Mott and Ascension Sepulveda by calling 
out to them, in front of the many guest at a christening party, and asking if they wished he would 
marry them.  Padre Raho, did this knowing that Sepulveda had already turned Mott down once 
before.  Cited from Weber, Msgr. Francis J., (2001). Encyclopedia of California’s Catholic 
Heritage 1769-1999. Mission Hill; Spokane: Saint Francis Historical Society, pg. 751; and 
Wittenburg, Sister Mary Ste. Therese. (1982) “A California Girlhood: Reminiscences of 
Ascension Sepulveda y Avila,” Southern California Quarterly.  Vol. 64, Los Angeles: Historical 
Society of Southern California, pg. 137. 
 
Scope and Content Note: 
 
The Sepulveda/Mott Collection consists of some 150 letters from various persons to Francisca 
Sepulveda de Carrillo (between 1845 and the 1890’s), personal correspondence of Thomas 
Dillingham Mott and family (chiefly Ascension Sepulveda de Mott and Georgia Mott de Van der 
Leck).  These letters are from such notables as Jose Antonio Carrillo, Antonio Maria de la 
Guerra, Ignacio Sepulveda, Alex Godey, Charles Crocker, Stephen White, Andres Pico, William 
Money, and other figures.  There are also about 225 pieces of business papers and 
correspondence, including promissory notes, deeds to houses, grocery bills, contracts, 
statements, certificates, insurance policies, and religious items, from the 1840’s and 1850’s, as 
well as the last will and testament of Jose Sepulveda.  Several of the business papers concern 
T.D. Mott’s enterprises during the 1870’s and 1880’s and through the 19th century.  (One letter 
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dated 4/1/1852 refers to cattle sold to pay Hugo Reid debt.-Box 2, folder 54).  A genealogical 
chart for descendants of Francisco Sepulveda and Ramona Serrano to about 1950. 
 
Container List: 
 
See spreadsheet on following pages 
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Catalog Number Date Description Object Name

F.A.13.68-747 A-B 1839

Two copies of coplas (songs or poems) which are of a religious nature, signed by Francisca Avila 
in 1839, telling of the agony of Christ in verse.  These two copies are on one sheet of paper each 
(one of which is torn), with an explanation that the verses were found in the tomb of Christ, were 
engraved on silver by Phillip IV of Spain, will be talismanic in that no harm will come to those 
who write and carry them about, etc. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-748 n.d.
Letter, one page, from Eulogia de Celis to Jose Sepulveda, concerning nine horses and a tax or 
tithe on them (?) by the government. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-749 May 14, 1846

Letter from Jose Antonio Carrillo to Jose Sepulveda, whom he calls “nephew”, concerning 
Carrillo’s impending marriage to Sepulveda’s aunt, Francisca Sepulveda, with reference to 
marriage by proxy, a dispensation because of the blood relationship between the two, a draft for 
Avelino (Sepulveda?) on articles in Henry Mellus’ ship, the recent appearance of several 
warships at Monterey, May 14, 1846 Manuscript

F.A.13.68-750 June 8, 1846

Letter from Jose Antonio Carrillo to Francisca Sepulveda concerning their coming marriage, 
Carrillo’s choice of a date for the marriage ceremony, and the troubled times.  One page, folded, 
one blank, dated June 8, 1846, at Santa Clara Manuscript

F.A.13.68-751 May 30, 1846

Letter from Jose Antonio Carrillo to Jose Sepulveda, dated May 30, 1846, at Santa Clara.  He 
writes of a trip to San Francisco in connection with his military duties and the difficulty of getting 
away at present in order to get married.  The Sepulveda family evidently prefers to wait until he 
can personally appear for the wedding, rather than have a proxy ceremony.  Carrillo makes 
reference to the Mellus goods.  One page, folded Manuscript

F.A.13.68-752 June 24, 1846

One letter to Jose Antonio Carrillo from Francisca Avila de Sepulveda, dated June 24, 1846, one 
page, folded.  From Los Angeles.  She states that it is best to wait until the danger is past, that it is 
good that he has “consecrated his remains of his life for the good to the country,” and other 
patriotic phrases, such as, “like a good Mexican, cooperate until a satisfactory disengagement can 
be obtained, “ etc., and then she will be glad to have him as a son-in-law Manuscript

F.A.13.68-753 June 14, 1846

Evidently the proxy marriage came off, according to the letter by Jose Sepulveda to Jose Antonio 
Carrillo.  At 7:00 p.m., June 13, 1846, with Fernando Sepulveda acting in place of Carrillo, the 
marriage was performed.  Sepulveda thus notifies Carrillo that he is a married man in this letter, 
dated June 14, 1846.  One page, from Los Angeles Manuscript

F.A.13.68-754 September 12, 1848

Letter from Jose Antonio Carrillo to Jose Sepulveda, Los Angeles, Sept 12, 1848. Sent to Rancho 
San Joaquin.  Carrillo speaks of a fine he has to pay and of goods he is sending.  He wants a load 
of brea for the corridors of this orchard house.  He refers to a letter from Nepomuceno Padilla, 
stating that the gold on the Sacramento is yielding 16 ounces per man daily.  There is also 
reference to a wound of Mauricio’s involving a “piedra de pedernal,” perhaps an obsidian arrow? 
He also says his niece Edwiges, daughter of Carlos Carrillo, has died.  One page Manuscript

F.A.13.68-755 February 8, 1847

Letter from Teodoro Gonzalez to Francisco Rico, Monterey, Feb. 8 1847.  One page.  Reports 
that the rancho is abandoned and the livestock strayed because of the uncertain times.  He cannot 
send money with the letter because the bearer is not known to be trustworthy Manuscript

F.A.13.68-756 March 15, 1847

Letter from Jose Antonio Carrillo to Francisco Rico, Los Angeles, March 15, 1847.  One Page.  
Carrillo assures Rico that Mexican troops are on their way, no reliable guess as to the number, 
but that they are on the Colorado River: “se cree que la que veine ya esta en el Colorado, quede 
pues la verdad en al ?? gar Y comete V. como gente.” Manuscript

F.A.13.68-757 June 13, 1846
A slip of paper stating simply, “Jose Antonio Carrillo married Francisca Sepulveda June 13, 
1846.  Santiago Thompson married Francisca S. de Carrillo June 11, 1869.” Manuscript

F.A.13.68-758 December 5, 1845

Jose Antonio Carrillo to Jose Sepulveda, San Diego, December 5, 1845, one page. Carrillo refers 
to a trip to Mazatlan which did not permit him to take care of his affairs: He wishes to make 
Francisca Sepulveda his heir, should he die on his trip. The letter, as a will, is witnessed and 
signed by Santiago E. Arguello, Santiago Rios, and Jose R. Arguello Manuscript

F.A.13.68-759 May 13, 1856

Letter from "A. Robinson" (Alfred Robinson?) to Jose Sepulveda, Los Angeles, May 13, 1856. 
Refers to a bill for Andronico and Ignacio Sepulveda for 140 pesos up to Dec. 22, 1855. Perhaps 
it concerns their college stay at Harvard Manuscript

F.A.13.68-760 August 1, 1851
Letter from Bernardo Yorba to Jose Antonio Carrillo, Rancho de San Antonio, August 1, 1851, as 
a wedding announcement of his son Prudencio, who is to marry Dolores Ontiveros. One page Manuscript

F.A.13.68-761 August 1, 1851
Letter from Bernardo Yorba to Jose Sepulveda, Rancho de San Antonio, August 1, 1851. 
Wedding announcement of his son Prudencio to Dolores Ontiveros, One page. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-762 August 30, 1850

Letter from Tomasa Sepulveda de Rico to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, Monterey, August 30, 
1850. One page. Correspondence between sisters. Reference to a portrait of Francisca with their 
little sister in her arms Manuscript

F.A.13.68-763 February 24, 1852

Letter from Carlos Carrillo to Jose Antonio Carrillo, Santa Barbara, February 24, 1852, one page. 
Concerns the theft of horses from Carlos Carrillo and others by Ruiz and Barreras, who are to 
meet an American at San Gabriel, receive money from him for the stock, then run for Baja 
California. He asks for aid in their capture Manuscript
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F.A.13.68-764 August 11, 1852

Tomasa Sepulveda de Rico to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, dated August 11, 1852, 
Monterey'. One page both sides. Sisterly letter in which she laments the death of her young son 
Vicente, the absence of her husband, and her sickness, which she fears is mortal. Various other 
bits of news Manuscript

F.A.13.68-765 December 13, 1852

Antonio Maria de la Guerra to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, Dec. 13, 1852, (from Santa 
'"Barbara ?).  He will send her cape on the steamer as soon as the wife of Pio Pico returns to Los 
Angeles Manuscript

F.A.13.68-766 March 30, 1853
Jurgen Van der Leck to Lawrence van der Leck, March 30, 1853, Garding, Germany. One page 
(folded) on four sides. In German. Letter to Lorenzo Leck from his brother Manuscript

F.A.13.68-767 March 21, 1854
Andres Pico to Jose Sepulveda, March 21, 1854, Los Angeles, one page. He sends some cattle to 
Francisco Johnson. Johnson signs the letter in agreement Manuscript

F.A.13.68-768 October 20, 1854
Letter from Ignacio Sepulveda to Ascencion Sepulveda, October 20, 1854. Kingston, 
Massachusetts. He is evidently homesick, is learning English, etc. One page Manuscript

F.A.13.68-769 June 24, 1856

 Domingo Quiros to Tranquilina Sepulveda Coborca, Sonora, June 24, 1856. He announces to the 
Sepulveda family that Andronico Sepulveda died at Pitiquito (near Caborca, about 7 miles away) 
and that the Lisarraga family made arrangements for the funeral.  One page Manuscript

F.A.13.68-770 August 5, 1856

Marta Avila de Padilla to Tomasa and Francisca Sepulveda, August 5, 1856, Camulos (?). One 
page. She chides them for not writing, as they are her nieces. Her husband Juan is ill, as Don 
Pancho (Rico?) will tell them, mentions "la casa de Valle." Manuscript

F.A.13.68-771 January 27, 1858

Guadalupe Villarnel Gonzalez to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, Monterey, Jan. 27, 1858, one 
page, both sides. She sends news of children, etc., mentions Francisca's past marital difficulty 
with Jose Antonio Carrillo Manuscript

F.A.13.68-772 August 6, 1856

Ramona Sepulveda de Haley to Francisca Sepulveda and Tomasa Sepulveda de Rico, Aug. 6, 
1856, one page, both sides, from Los Angeles (?) Amusing letter, evidently from Camulos; 
mentions the Del Valle family ("Tia Chonchona", Ignacio, and Reginaldo) and other particulars Manuscript

F.A.13.68-773 August 1, 1851
Guadalupe Villarnel de Gonzalez to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, August 1, 1851, one page, 
Monterey. She writes a commentary on wifely difficulties in general terms Manuscript

F.A.13.68-774 August 5, 1855
Ascencion Sepulveda to Jose Sepulveda, one page, August 5, 1855, San Jose. She writes her 
father from school that she is expecting a vacation soon and expects to see them soon Manuscript

F.A.13.68-775 May 13, 1859

Tomasa Sepulveda de Rico to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, May 13, 1859, one page, 
Monterey. Chides her for not writing, and says she saw Andronico pass by on his way to San 
Francisco Manuscript

F.A.13.68-776 January 30, 1861
Guadalupe Villarnel de Gonzalez to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, Jan. 30, 1861, one page, 
Monterey.  Little news in Monterey other than two marriages. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-777 December 9, 1853

Divorce, Dated Dec. 9, 1853, Los Angeles: Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo vs. Jose Antonio 
Carrillo. Two pages, written on both sides, signed by John W. Shore.  She is awarded $400 
alimony per year, etc. Document

F.A.13.68-778 November 29, 1853

Bottom fragment of a letter from Jose Antonio Carrillo to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, 
including his signature and the date, Nov. 29, 1853."...que el de padre y tu ma(dre)? 
...(dia?)riamente como a mi dicipula y como...ademas eres mi esposa y has vivido ....en la union 
mas intima por el espacio.... (?) nos, y con todo esto, podre yo dudar Ja(mas?)...tu no estes bien 
persuadida de mi afecto? ..~creer que sea necesario darte mas pruebas ..." "A D. Francisca 
Sepulbeda S. C. Noviembre 29, 1853. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-779 n.d.
Sheet of paper, folded (letter cover?). No date. Appears to be an invitation. "Octgviano Gutierrez 
y Familia," and below, "Senioritas Da Franca. Carrillo y de Carrillo.” Manuscript

F.A.13.68-780 December 8, 1856

William Money to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, San Gabriel, Dec. 8, 1856, one page, folded, 
written on four sides. A most interesting letter, giving Dr. Money's opinions on divorce, adultery, 
marriage, etc.  He quotes scripture throughout, refers to Jose Antonia Carrillo as compadre, 
explains that his marriage to Isabel Rada was dissolved by her adultery and that he is therefore 
free to marry again, etc. He signs as "obispo y deacona." Manuscript

F.A.13.68-781 October 14, 1873

A note to Zenaida written on the back of a printed circular announcing a meeting of the 
California State Grange in San Jose, Oct. 14, 1873. (Rubio?).  Author of note is unknown.  
Undated, one page Manuscript

F.A.13.68-782 n.d.

One piece of stationery with gold embossing surrounding a color picture and a poem written on 
it.  The poem is written by Leon Diaz to Leona (a name that is mention in one of the verses).  
Leona may be referring to part of Francisca Sepulveda’s birth name; Maria Francisca Leona 
Sepulveda[1]. Undated Manuscript

F.A.13.68-783 n.d. Short letter, undated from Anselin (?) to Francisca Sepulveda. Undated, one page Manuscript
F.A.13.68-784 n.d. Poem, to a loved one, unsigned, undated, unaddressed. One page, both sides Manuscript

F.A.13.68-785 n.d.
Poem to Francisca Sepulveda from Maria Reyes Belarde, undated, one page, with highly 
decorated margins. Intended as a poem for her Saint's Day, the day of Saint Francis Manuscript

F.A.13.68-786 n.d.
A nearly-illiterate to a "Senor Gaston" concerning "Cosse Sepulbera" (Jose Sepulveda), signed 
Eliseche Mendiz. Evidently Sepulveda had just paid Mendiz what he owed. One page, no date Manuscript
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F.A.13.68-787 n.d.
Poem, undated, signed with the initials "F.S." (Francisca Sepulveda?) written in Los Angeles, 
January 26, Y no year. One page, folded, on three sides Manuscript

F.A.13.68-788 n.d.

Letter from Albertina Halley to her aunt (presumably Francisca Sepulveda) dated August 28, no 
year. She mentions "Don Santiago" and her "Tio, Chapo", who have both been sick. One page, 
folded, written on two sides. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-789 n.d.

Ignacio Sepulveda to Andronico Sepulveda, no date (written, however, when Dryden was County 
Judge), one page. He mentions the cases of Ramona Yorba and Rimpau, as well as Mrs. Rimpau 
(Francisca Avila de Rimpau) and Judge Dryden Manuscript

F.A.13.68-790 n.d.

A label for a medicine bottle from the drugstore of J. C. Sepulveda in Sacramento, with a 
message addressed to “Cousin” stating that 0ra (Sepulveda) has gone to New York for three or 
four months.  It appears to be signed by Juan. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-791 n.d.

An undated letter from Ascension Sepulveda to her aunt, on one page of religious stationery, 
folded, written on two sides.  Although the letter is undated, two specific phrases in the letter, 
“commienzo del ano” and “estando san serca la fiesta de la Natividad” hints that the letter may 
have been written sometime in December. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-792 n.d. Poem, one page, undated, unsigned, of a religious nature Manuscript

F.A.13.68-793 n.d.
Letter-cover, addressed to Jose 5epulveda (y) Serrano at San Joaquin (Orange Co.). No letter 
inside, dab of sealing-wax outside Manuscript

F.A.13.68-794 n.d.
Slip of paper with the words "escrituera hecha entre Ygnacio Machado (y) Casildo Aguilar."  
Sums of money are also figured on it. On the back is written "Wednesday, 11 o'clk." No date Manuscript

F.A.13.68-795 n.d. Juan de Dios Olivera to Francisca Sepulveda, no date. Poem to her Manuscript
F.A.13.68-796 n.d. Poem, one page written on two sides, undated, unsigned. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-797 March 25, 1896

Typed letter, March 25, 1896, unsigned, to Representative E. F. Loud in Washington, from San 
Francisco, date illegible, but evidently written when Cleveland was president and Loud was 
Representative. Regards a Lieutenant in the U. S. Army, A. B. Shattuck, who desires a post in the 
quartermasters dept. with the rank of captain.  NOTE: Letter was written by T.D. Mott.  See 873. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-798 March 1, 1860

Guadalupe Villarnel de Gonzalez to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, March 1, 1860, one page 
written on two sides, Monterey. She congratulates Francisca on her decision to live for God, (i.e., 
an unordained nun, or beata) and gives brief news of friends in Monterey Manuscript

F.A.13.68-799 March 18, 1860
Ramona Sepulveda de Haley to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, March 18, 1860, one page, 
Monterey. No news other than a trip to Santa Cruz, relatives, etc. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-800 December 27, 1860
Francisco Rico and Tomasa de Rico to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, Dec. 27, 1860, 
Monterey, one page. Family letter Manuscript

F.A.13.68-801 April 4, 1861
Guadalupe Villarnel de Gonzalez to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, April 4, 1861, Monterey, 
one page, both sides. Family letter Manuscript

F.A.13.68-802 November 13, 1861
Pablo de la Guerra to Francisca Avila, Nov. 13, 1861, one page, Santa Barbara. His uncle is quite 
sick, cannot drink liquid, may die Manuscript

F.A.13.68-803 May 20, 1864

Ignacio Sepulveda to Judge William G. Dryden, Ranch (San Joaquin?), one page, May 20, 1864. 
Sepulveda asks Judge Dryden to help his family during his absence should any legal problems 
come up. He thanks him for all his help to the present Manuscript

F.A.13.68-804 November 23, 1864

Eloisa Martinez de Sepulveda to Ascencion “Chonita” Sepulveda de Mott, Nov. 23, 1864, one 
page, from Rancho San Joaquin. She is glad to hear that Chonita is coming to live at the Rancho 
San Joaquin with them, etc. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-805 August 8, 1865

Tranquilina Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda, Los Angeles, August 8, 1865, one page on both 
sides. Chonita was so sick that she was given communion by padre Mora. Her fever has become 
better, however, [Jose] Mauricio [Sepulveda] has died and is being sent by steamer Manuscript

F.A.13.68-806 April 23, 1867

Alexis Godey to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, April 23, 1867, San Jose, one page. He writes 
her that his administrator will give her the $150, and that he had just spent an agreeable time at 
the Sacramento State Fair Manuscript

F.A.13.68-807 August 1, 1867

W. Hunter, acting Secretary of State to C. Cole, U.S. Senator, Washington; August 1, 1867. He 
writes that the enclosed letter from Mr. (Matias?) Romero, Mexican Ambassador, will adequately 
explain the problem of Ignacio Sepulveda. (He was a prisoner of the  Juaristas at Queretaro) Manuscript

F.A.13.68-808 July 30, 1867

Translation of a letter from Ambassador Matias Romero to William Hunter, acting Secretary of 
State, Washington, July 30, 1867, one page folded, written on three sides. Romero has received 
the list of those who may suffer the death penalty at Queretaro. Ignacio Sepulveda is not among 
them, although he may be still held by the Juaristas. He may even have been set free by this time Manuscript

F.A.13.68-809 n.d.

Tranquilina Sepulveda to "Primita" no date, no location, one page. She asks Primita to send a 
wrap, as the one she has no longer fits since she has put on weight. She mentions the stores of 
Dillon or Lazard, in Los Angeles Manuscript

F.A.13.68-810 n.d.

Tranquilina Sepulveda to "Primita" {Albertina Haley?), (or Ramona Sepulveda de Haley?) one 
page, no date, no location. She asks -for more cloth, sends greetings to Don Santiago, mentions 
four dollars she sends to Andronico Manuscript
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F.A.13.68-811 June 20, 1870

Josefa Gallardo de Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda de Thompson, from Rancho San Vicente, 
June 20, 1870, one page, both sides. She asks for $20 from Francisca, as she is quite needy. She 
has just had a baby boy who weighs 12 lbs.; etc Manuscript

F.A.13.68-812 September 23, 1873
Clotilde (de la Guerra?) to Ascension Sepulveda de Mott, Sept. 23, 1873, one page, both sides. 
She says she may go soon to San Francisco, and that she will visit them one of these days Manuscript

F.A.13.68-813 n.d.

Tablet of yellow paper, written by Tomas Mott, son of T. D. Mott. No date. This gives an 
explanation of why Jose Sepulveda died at Coborca in 1875. He had established a rancho there, 
near the sea about 80 miles from Caborca Manuscript

F.A.13.68-814 May 5, 1872

T. D. Mott and B. D. Wilson to Leland Stanford, May 5, 1872, Los Angeles. One page, folded, 
torn in two, written on three sides. Suggests Stanford use his influence to get the railroad through 
Los Angeles, as they will try to convince people to put up money for the demands of Southern 
Pacific Manuscript

F.A.13.68-815 June 29, 1874
Invitation to Ignacio Sepulveda for the Fourth of July celebration in Los Angeles. One page, 
printed with a note hand-written at the bottom. Sent by E. M. Ross Invitation

F.A.13.68-816 1878

Document of nine pages, written in 1878, concerning the post office building in Los Angeles. 
Addressed to Assistant Postmaster General Tyner, quotes a letter from Constant Meyer, the 
president of the society petitioning on behalf of the post office.  See also: Tyner, Independent 
Order of Odd Fellows Manuscript

F.A.13.68-817 October 21, 1878
Draft of a letter to J. K. Luttrell, Oct. 21, 1878, concerns the post office which is asked for in Los 
Angeles, 4 pages, torn, written on both sides, and unsigned Manuscript

F.A.13.68-818 August 27, 1878
Tranquilina Sepulveda to "Ninita" (probably her sister?), Los Angeles, Aug. 27, 1878, one page, 
both sides. Family letter Manuscript

F.A.13.68-819 August 23, 1878

Tranquilina Sepulveda to "Ninita" (evidently in --''" Camulos), Los Angeles, August 23, 1878, 
one page, folded, written on three sides. Family letter. She asks about Ignacio, Isabel, and Tia 
Chonchona, refers to the mass at the cathedral for Antonio Reginaldo Manuscript

F.A.13.68-820 1870
Adela ? to her father, written about New Year's 1870. Decorated stationery, two folded pages, 
evidently from parochial school,. She wishes him a happy New Year Manuscript

F.A.13.68-821 January 15, 1875

Tranquilina Sepulveda to Jose Sepulveda, Los Angeles, Jan 15, 1875, one page, folded, written 
on four sides. She writes her father in Sonora, accusing him of having abandoned them for two 
years, and wants him to come home Manuscript

F.A.13.68-822 November 6, 1878
J. B. Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda de Thompson, Salt Lake City, Utah, one page, folded, 
Nov. 6, 1878. He remits letters to the family Manuscript

F.A.13.68-823 September 12, 1878
Tranquilina Sepulveda to "Ninita" {her godmother), Camulos Sept 12 1878 one page both sides 
,.,,,. Family letter Manuscript

F.A.13.68-824 September 23, 1878
Tranquilina Sepulveda to her godmother, Camulos, Sept. 23, 1878, one page. As usual, accuse 
everyone of not writing Manuscript

F.A.13.68-825 October 17, 1878
Tranquilina Sepulveda to her godmother (Ramona Sepulveda?), Camulos, Oct. 17, 1878, one 
page, both sides. Family letter. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-826 October 24, 1878

Eloisa Martinez de Sepulveda to Francisca Avila de Sepulveda, Los Angeles, Oct. 24, 1878, one 
page.  Joaquin Sepulveda is evidently very sick, perhaps with tuberculosis. He spits blood.  
NOTE: Tranquilina’s godmother is evidently Francisca Sepulveda de Thompson. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-827 October 29, 1878
Tranquilina Sepulveda to her godmother, Camulos, Oct. 29, 1878, one page, both sides. Joaquin 
is better; Andronico shows signs of contesting the will, etc Manuscript

F.A.13.68-828 November 4, 1878 Tranquilina Sepulveda to her godmother, Camulos, Nov. 4, 1878, one page. Family letter Manuscript

F.A.13.68-829 November 13, 1878
Tranquilina Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda de Thompson, Camulos, Nov. 13, 1878, one page. 
Padre Romo is at Camulos, etc. Family letter Manuscript

F.A.13.68-830 November 21, 1878

Rosa del Valle to her godmother (also Francisca Sepulveda?), Camulos, Nov. 21, 1878, one page. 
Rosa says that this is the first letter she has ever written, that her aunt Tranquilina is getting 
fatter, etc. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-831 November 22, 1878 Maria Dornalech to Francisca Sepulveda, Camulos, Nov. 22, 1878, one page. Family letter Manuscript

F.A.13.68-832 November 24, 1878
Isabel del Valle to Francisca Sepulveda, Camulos, Nov. 24, 1878, one page. Family letter. (This is 
Isabel Varelas del Valle, not her daughter, Isabel) Manuscript

F.A.13.68-833 1878
Eloisa Martinez de Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda, Camulos, Jan. (?) 28, 1878, one page. 
Joaquin is in fair condition, although sickly at times, etc Manuscript

F.A.13.68-834 December 19, 1878
Isabel del Valle to Eloisa Martinez de Sepulveda, Camulos, Dec. 19, 1878, one page. She wants 
material to make a dress, etc Manuscript

F.A.13.68-835 December 8, 1878
Maria Donalech to Francisca Sepulveda, Camulos, Dec. 8, 1878, one page. She sends a little note 
concerning thread Manuscript

F.A.13.68-836 January 27, 1879
Francisca Avila de Sepulveda to her daughter (?), Camulos, Jan. 27, 1879, one page. Family 
letter. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-837 March 11, 1879
Isabel del Valle to Francisca.Sepulveda, Camulos, March 11, 1879, one page, both sides. She is 
discouraged by the slowness of her godchildren to learn anything in schooling at Camulos Manuscript
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F.A.13.68-838 August 22, 1879

Isabel de1 Valle to Francisca Sepulveda, Camulos, August 22, 1879, one page, both sides. Padre 
Pedro will say a mass for Antonio del Valle, dead two years, and if Reginaldo is in the town, will 
you advise him? Ulpianito left his overcoat at Clotilde's house. Could you send it to his school. 
He has left for school, now Manuscript

F.A.13.68-839 September 17, 1879
Francisca (Avi1a de?) Sepulveda to Tranquilina Sepulveda, Camulos, Sept. 17, 1879, one page. 
Family letter Manuscript

F.A.13.68-840 October 6, 1879

Isabel del Valle to Francisca Sepulveda, Camulos, Oct. 6, 1879, one page. She is perturbed that 
Francisca’s mother has said nothing to her about being sent to Los Angeles. (Francisca Avila de 
Sepulveda is evidently Ascension Avila de Varelas' sister) Manuscript

F.A.13.68-841 October 16, 1879
Isabel del Valle to Francisca Sepulveda, Camulos, Oct. 16, 1879, one page, both sides. She is 
about to start a novena to San Rafael Arcangel, etc Manuscript

F.A.13.68-842 October 28, 1879
Francisca Avila de Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda de Thompson, Camulos, Oct. 28, 1879, one 
page. She has heard that Ramona Sepulveda is ill at Campo Aleman (Anaheim?) Manuscript

F.A.13.68-843 November 1, 1879

Tranquilina Sepuiveda to Francisca Sepulveda, Camulos, Nov. 1, 1879, one page. If there really 
is small pox in Los Angeles they do not want to take their mother there. What has happened to 
Juan Carrillo? Manuscript

F.A.13.68-844 December 1, 1879
Tranquilina Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda de Thompson, Camulos, Dec. 1, 1879, one page, 
both sides. How is Los Angeles? She wishes to know if the danger is over Manuscript

F.A.13.68-845 November 30, 1848
Andres Pico to Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, Los Angeles, Nov. 30, 1848, one page. He sends 
a short note of congratulations on her Saint's day Manuscript

F.A.13.68-846 April 22, 1884 J. R. del Valle to Francisca, Camulos, April 22, 1884, one page, both sides. Family letter Manuscript

F.A.13.68-847 May 20, 1882
Isabel del Valle to Francisca Sepulveda, Camulos, May 20, 1882, one page. She wants some dress 
material for Isatielita's summer dress, etc Manuscript

F.A.13.68-848 n.d.
Guadalupe de Zepeda to (?), Los Angeles, no date. Pico House letterhead of the 1880's. 
Fragment. Brief note Manuscript

F.A.13.68-849 May 4, 1880

T. D. Mott to C. P. Berry, Los Angeles, May 4, 1880, 4 pages. Complains of the removal of the 
post office from the Odd Fellows' Hall, where it has been for three years. Gov. Pacheco has 
introduced legislation promoting $75,000 for a new government building in Los Angeles, which 
will be of some loss to the Odd Fellows, who had fixed up their building for $4,000. Berry was in 
Washington Manuscript

F.A.13.68-850 May 4, 1880

T. D. Mott to J. T. Farley of Washington, D. C., Los Angeles, May 4, 1880 four pages. 
Concerning the post office building Gov. Facheco wants to build in Los Angeles for $75,000 and 
how it will affect the Odd Fellows, who now rent their building to the government. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-851 n.d.

Penciled note by Ora Sepulveda to her aunt (Francisca Sepulveda?) with a poem on the back. No 
date. She complains that there was an argument with someone about her having to make a glass 
of lemonade Manuscript

F.A.13.68-852 February 9, 1881

Mary del Valle to Francisca Sepulveda, Camulos, Feb. 9, 1881, one page, folded, written on two 
sides. A letter edged in black, probably because of the recent death of Francisca Avila de 
Sepulveda Manuscript

F.A.13.68-853 January 31, 1881
Marie (Dornalich?) to Francisca Sepulveda, Camulos, Jan. 31, 1881, one page, folded, edged in 
black. Condolence on the loss of her mother Manuscript

F.A.13.68-854 January 2, 1883
M. B. Smoot to Gates, Denver, Colorado, Jan. 2, 1883, two pages, one torn. Concerns a loan of 
$400 to Smoot and $100 interest or extras, with some involvement on the part of Mott Manuscript

F.A.13.68-855 November 23, 1886
Charles F. Crocker to T. D. Mott, San Francisco, Nov. 23, 1886, one page. Crocker thanks Mott 
for his help in an election which will benefit the railroad (S.F. and uses the abbreviation "L. A." Manuscript

F.A.13.68-856 May 31, 1885

Ora Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda, Sacramento, May 31, 1885, one page, folded, three sides. 
She received a letter and a box of oranges from Mr. Coronel, but she knows nothing about him 
and wishes to be informed about his background, etc., as she met in last time she was in Los 
Angeles, She celebrated her 15th birthday on May 30th, therefore she was born May 30, 1870 Manuscript

F.A.13.68-857 May 28, 1884
Erolinda de la Guerra de Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda de Thompson, Mexico City, May 28, 
1884, one page, folded, three sides. News of Ignacio in Mexico, etc Manuscript

F.A.13.68-858 n.d.

Ora Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda, Sacramento,  August 17, (no year), one page. Family 
letter. Ora's handwriting is not as good as previous examples above; it is probably an earlier 
example when she first went to school in Sacramento Manuscript

F.A.13.68-859 n.d.

Ora Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda, Sacramento, Sept. 8, (no year), one page. Her father was 
recently elected to office (county judge?) and her aunt's school opens soon. She will attend. Same 
poor hand writing, bad spelling Manuscript

F.A.13.68-860 n.d.

Ora Sepulveda to James Thompson, no date, one page.  Ora writes that she is sending a note to 
her aunt that she does not want others to read. Perhaps this is the lemonade incident. Improved 
handwriting Manuscript

F.A.13.68-861 April 30, 1882
Ora Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda, Sacramento, April 30, 1882, one page. Good 
handwriting, better spelling. She says she is doing better in school. Manuscript
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F.A.13.68-862 May 12, 1883

Ora Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda, Sacramento,  May 12, 1883, one page, folded, three sides. 
She has returned to school, practices two hours a day on her music, studies hard. "...Auntie says 
the more busy I am the better it is for me, to keep me  out of mischief." Manuscript

F.A.13.68-863 November 18, 1883
Ora Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda, Sacramento,  Nov. 18, 1883, one page, folded, three 
sides. Family letter. She doesn't like her teacher, etc. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-864 May 28, 1884

Ora Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda, Sacramento,  May 28, 1884, one page, both sides. She is 
going to Quincy, Illinois, to see her grandmother, and her aunt is taking her. Her father does not 
yet know, as he is in Mexico Manuscript

F.A.13.68-865 January 4, 1885
Ora Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda, Sacramento,  Jan. 4, 1885, one page, both sides. She 
hopes Reginaldo will see her, as the legislature has convened and he must be in Sacramento Manuscript

F.A.13.68-866 February 19, 1885

Ora Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda, Sacramento, Feb. 19, 1885, one page, folded, three sides. 
Her father has not written. He was going to send her something for her birthday last May, but she 
never got it. Georgie Mott visited her recently Manuscript

F.A.13.68-867 June 30, 1884
Tranquilina Sepulveda to her god-mother, (?), San Juan Capistrano, June 30, 1884, one page, 
folded, four sides. Family letter Manuscript

F.A.13.68-868 June 12, 1883
Guadalupe Villarnel Gonzalez to Francisca Sepulveda, San Francisco, June 12, 1883, one page. 
Evidently Francisco Rico went to Sonora (Ures); Dona Prudenciana has died, etc Manuscript

F.A.13.68-869 May 27, 1884

Tranquilina Sepulveda to Francisca Sepulveda, San Juan Capistrano, May 27, 1884, one page, 
both sides. She is sending for medicine from Pironi because Magdalena Morillo is sick. Richard 
Egan will pick it up for her Manuscript

F.A.13.68-870 January 20, 1886
S. H. Mott to I. W. Hellman, et al., at Farmers & Merchants Bank, Jan. 20, 1886, one page, In the 
event of his death only his brother or sister may have his effects . Manuscript

F.A.13.68-871 June 23, 1894
Stephen M. White to T. D. Mott, Washington, June 23, 1894, one page, torn. Concerning 
someone who should be dropped from his position, etc Manuscript

F.A.13.68-872 June 7, 1894
Stephen M. White to T. D. Mott, Washington, June 7, 1894, one page, torn. Reference to removal 
of someone from a position. This correspondence may be part of the harbor fight for San Pedro Manuscript

F.A.13.68-873 March 25, 1896
Stephen M. White to T. D. Mott, Washington, March 25, 1896, one page. Concerning the 
quartermaster's position which Lieut. Shattuck requested through Mott Manuscript

F.A.13.68-874 April 8, 1896
V. Stow to T. D. Mott, San Francisco, Apr. 8, 1896, one page. On the subject of getting James 
McFadden's help in a matter, perhaps lobbying Manuscript

F.A.13.68-875 June 17, 1899
H. W. 0'Melveny, Los Angeles, June 17, 1899, one page. Mott had wished to see him, and he is 
now free to attend to Mr. Mott's business Manuscript

F.A.13.68-876 February 3, 1898
Frank P. Flint to T. D. Mott, Los Angeles, Feb. 3, 1898, one page. Concerning the enlarging of 
government building in Los Angeles Manuscript

F.A.13.68-877 November 12, 1891
Francisca W. de Shepherd to Francisca Sepulveda, Los Angeles (?), Nov. 12, 1891, one page, 
both sides Manuscript

F.A.13.68-878 June 6, 1896
Domingo Quiros to Andronico Sepulveda, Caborca, Sonora, June 6, 1896, one page, both sides. 
Concerning the houselot owned in Caborca by the Sepulvedas, events in Caborca, the school, etc Manuscript

F.A.13.68-879 August 6, 1908
Lawrence Van der Leck to Ascension Sepulveda, San Juan Capistrano, Aug. 6, 1908, postcard. 
Expects her Saturday, etc Postcard

F.A.13.68-880 June 8, 1914
Rosana Lecouvreur to Tranquilina Sepulveda, Montecito, June 8, 1914, one page. Invitation to a 
mass Invitation

F.A.13.68-881 May 6, 1912
Richard Den (?) to Mrs. Van der Leck, Los Angeles, May 6, 1912, ten pages, edged in black. On 
the death of his mother Manuscript

F.A.13.68-882 June 12, 1925
A. W. Van der Leck Rotterdam to Henry Van der Leck, June 12, 1925. He sends what he knows 
of the family history, as they are cousins. It is an amusing letter about their shared ancestry Manuscript

F.A.13.68-883 June 12, 1915

Henry Van der Leck to George ?, San Juan Capistrano, June 12, 1915, three pages. Concerning 
the expenses of Nacho, Tomas, et al, and the money available. They are using up their money 
faster than the estate brings it in Manuscript

F.A.13.68-884 February 7, 1920
J. G. Mott to Georgie VarderLeck, Los Angeles, Feb. 7, 1920, one page. Expenses of the Motts 
during the month Manuscript

F.A.13.68-885 December 19, 1923
H. A. Gardner to Henry Van der Leck, Santa Ana, Dec. 19, 1923, one page. Concerning a piece 
of property in San Juan Capistrano belonging to M. Mendelson. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-886 May 7, 1925

C. W. Van der Leck Rotterdam to Henry Van der Leck, May 7, 1925, one page, folded, written 
three sides. He wishes to know about the California Van der Lecks, to whom he is related 
through his father's brother Manuscript

F.A.13.68-887 July 6, 1933
F. W. Slabaugh to Henry Van der Leck, Santa Ana, July 6, 1933, one page. Letter concerning an 
insurance policy Manuscript

F.A.13.68-888 March 3, 1934
Insurance to the estate of Henry Van der Leck, Los Angeles, March 3, 1934, one page.  
Concerning three fire insurance policies Manuscript
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F.A.13.68-889 September 6, 1934

Harold Harrison to Mrs. Hugh P. 0'Neill & Mrs. William S. Lantz, Santa Ana, Sept. 6, 1934, one 
page. Concerning the policies on their San Juan Capistrano property (Central St.), and insurance 
therein Manuscript

F.A.13.68-890 May 4, 1939
Harold Harrison to Lawrence Van der Leck, Santa Ana, May 4, 1939, one page. Insurance for 
San Juan Capistrano property Manuscript

F.A.13.68-891 December 30, 1940
F. E. Foster to Lawrence Van der Leck, Los Angeles, Dec. 30, 1940, one page. Informing him 
that he has been elected a director of the California Oil & Gas Association Manuscript

F.A.13.68-892 September 1, 1943
Howard J, Brown to Mrs. Lawrence Van der Leck, Los Angeles, Sept. 1, 1943, one page. He 
sends back the photo of the Mott Bldg, after having it copied Manuscript

F.A.13.68-893 May 9, 1914
Lawrence Van der Leck to Mrs. H. Van der Leck, Berkeley, May 9, 1914, two pages, four sides. 
He writes from college that he has just been elected to the honor fraternity for geologists, etc Manuscript

F.A.13.68-894 n.d.
Copy of nullification of contract between T. D. Mott, Albert J. Johnston, and Milton Thomas, 
signed by Thomas. One page, no date Document

F.A.13.68-895 n.d.

Memoranda by T. D. Mott concerning his brother and the lack of respect shown him toward T. D. 
Mott's wife, his ingratitude for help from Mott, and the correction of the role played by his 
brother in certain real estate transactions, etc. Three pages, two written on both sides Document

F.A.13.68-896 n.d.
Statement made by S. H. Mott in a transcript of questions and answers, concerning property 
acquired by the Mott family, etc. 11 pages, typed Document

F.A.13.68-897 March 13, 1843
Deed of a piece of property from Juan Gallardo to Agustin Salgado, March 13, 1843, one page, 
folded, two sides. Appears to be a copy of the original. Document

F.A.13.68-898 January 21, 1905 Deed of a piece of property from Ignacio Machado to Casildo Aguilar, 1848. Four pages Document
F.A.13.68-899 1844 - 1845 Accounts of purchases from Jose Vicente Guerrero by Francisca Avila, 1844-1845 Document

F.A.13.68-900 August 31, 1848
A receipt from Alexander and Mellus for three botas of tallow to the account of Alexander Bell, 
deposited by Jose Sepulveda Receipt

F.A.13.68-901 October 5, 1848 Affidavit concerning a derogatory statement by Juan Avila about Jose Antonio Carrillo Document

F.A.13.68-902 August 19, 1848

Order for 125 pesos, to be paid in horses by Jose Sepulveda of San Joaquin Rancho, dated Aug. 
19, 1848.  Lieut. William Entrell is to received them. Order signed by A. B. Thompson, W. 
Entrell, and Jose Sepulveda Document

F.A.13.68-903 January 21, 1849
Receipt for 32 pesos from Jose Antonio Carrillo to Enrique Dalton, Los Angeles, Jan 21, 1849, 
which was a portion of the 55 pesos Carrillo owed [Missing 9/2012] Receipt

F.A.13.68-904 n.d.
An account (undated) of the Sepulveda family with Sr. Herrera, listing several items totaling 
197.60 pesos Document

F.A.13.68-905 n.d. Account of Francisca Avila de Sepulveda with Gonzalez y Gomez, totaling $30. Undated Document

F.A.13.68-906 February 9, 1858

Agreement by Jose Sepulveda with T. H. Thomas and Louis P. Drexler of Sacramento County for 
100 head of cows with calves and 100 steers, plus several other types of cattle, or a total of 400 
head of steers @ $18.25 per head, and some 250 head of cows with calves @ $22 per head. 
$5,000 will be deposited at the office of Lazard & Wolfskill, payable upon receipt of the cattle. 
Signed by Thomas, Drexler, and Sepulveda, dated Feb. 9, 1858.  Contract was fulfilled April 14, 
1858. Document

F.A.13.68-907 May 9, 1853

Jose Sepulveda’s last will and testament, signed and witnessed on May 9, 1853, with the 
signature of Cristobal Aguilar, Domingo Quiros, and Hilario Ibarra, as well as Jose Sepulveda.  
Lists his debts to many prominent citizens including Benito Wilson. Document

F.A.13.68-908 February 14, 1850

Mortgage of the Carrillo adobe on the Plaza, Feb. 14, 1850, to Pedro Domec far #330.  Jose 
Sepulveda agrees to fulfill the contract if Carrillo dies, etc. Signed by Jose Sepulveda, Jose 
Mascarel, Joaquin Machado, and Gn. Verins Document

F.A.13.68-909 August 28, 1850
Petition for a cattle-brand by Jose Sepulveda, showing the brand and ear-marks, dated August 28, 
1850, signed by Jose Sepulveda and Ignacio del Valle. Document

F.A.13.68-910 August 21, 1854

Promissory note for $50, with six percent interest monthly.  Signature was torn out after note was 
paid off.  (At six percent per month compounded monthly the note would double in a year to 
$100).  Dated Aug. 21, 1854, witnessed by Wm. D. Bradshaw. Document

F.A.13.68-911 December 1, 1853
Summons for a divorce between Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo and Jose Antonio Carrillo, Dec. 
1, 1853, signed by John W. Shore, copy made by Wm. B. Osborn. Document

F.A.13.68-912 March 18, 1855
Baptismal certificate of Francisca Sepulveda, who was born in 1826, made by Padre Lestrade on 
March 18, 1855. Certificate

F.A.13.68-913 January 31, 1855
Copy of writ of attachment against Jose Antonio Yorba for $2,430, dated Jan. 31, 1855, in favor 
of Wm. W. Jenkins Document

F.A.13.68-914 March 14, 1855
Deed of a houselot on Main St., owned by Osburn, to Kimball H. Dimmick, dated March 14, 
1855 Document

F.A.13.68-915 April 4, 1855
Certificate of sale for city taxes, recorded at the request of K. H. Dimmick, house on Main St., 
April 4, 1855 Document

F.A.13.68-916 March 30, 1855

House and lot deed from the mayor and common council to Casildo Aguilar for his house on 
Main St., dated March 30, 1855.  Sealed with the first seal of the city of Los Angeles - - a bunch 
of grapes with two leaves. Document

F.A.13.68-917 July 13, 1855
Deed of house and lot from mayor and common council to Kimball H. Dimmick, dated July 13, 
1855, with same grape seal Document
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F.A.13.68-918 October 23, 1856
Indenture for $400 between Kimball Dimmick and Casildo Aguilar, dated Oct. 23, 1856, 
concerning Dimmick's lot Document

F.A.13.68-919 October 23, 1856 Indenture between Casildo Aguilar and S. W. Wallace for the sum of $1, dated Oct. 23, 1856 Document

F.A.13.68-920 September 20, 1857

Printed document from Padre Blas Raho, authorizing the bearer to collect alms for the aid of the 
parish, repairs on the church, etc. On the back is a signed statement by him on behalf of Francisca 
Sepulveda to collect the money. She has appended a list of names and donations. Dated Sept. 20, 
1857 Document

F.A.13.68-921 January 24, 1905 Receipt from Alexander & Mellus to Francisca Sepulveda for $106.75, dated Sept. 18 (?), 1851 Receipt
F.A.13.68-922 April 3, 1852 Receipt from Myles & Hereford, dated April 3, 1852, to Jose Maria Longo [sic - Lugo?] Receipt
F.A.13.68-923 September 11, 1851 Receipt from Vicente del Campo to Francisca Avila de Sepulveda, dated Sept. 11, 1851 Receipt

F.A.13.68-924 January 19, 1854
Receipt from Charles Ducommun to Jose Sepulveda for watch works ($1.00) and two crystal 
balls ($10.00), Jan. 19, 1854 Receipt

F.A.13.68-925 April 22, 1854 Receipt from P. T. Pemberton to Jose Sepulveda for $100, April 22, 1854 Receipt
F.A.13.68-926 August 2, 1857 Receipt for $100 from Henry Goldstein to Jose Sepulveda, August 2, 1857 Receipt
F.A.13.68-927 January 13, 1858 Receipt from Goodwin & Co. to Salisbury Haley for $90.81, January 13, 1858 Receipt
F.A.13.68-928 April 22, 1858 Bill from Buster Cohn & Co. to Francisca Sepulveda, $12, April 22, 1858 Document

F.A.13.68-929 August 6, 1856
Mortgage for Rancho San Joaquin, August 6, 1856, from Jose Sepulveda and his wife to William 
Wolfskill, for $18,000 Document

F.A.13.68-930 December 12, 1861 Receipt for tailoring from H. H. McMahon to Jose Sepulveda, December 12, 1861 Document

F.A.13.68-931 December 8, 1864
Quitclaim deed by T. D. Mott for property of Francisca Sepulveda de Carrillo, dated Dec. 8, 1864 
[Missing 9/2012] Document

F.A.13.68-932 December 26, 1865
T. D. Mott, as County Clerk, notifies that the County Board of Supervisors has appointed Jose 
Sepulveda as Judge of the Plains for Los Angeles County, Dec. 26, 1865 Certificate

F.A.13.68-933 January 19, 1866
Bill of sale for San Miguel de los Alisos, near San Juan Capistrano, from Jonathan Bacon to 
August Langenberger and Benjamin Dreyfuss, January 19, 1866. Document

F.A.13.68-934 April 22, 1867
Receipt for Francisca Carrillo's delinquent taxes, paid by Andronico Sepulveda, $10.68, April 22, 
1867. Receipt

F.A.13.68-935 August 19, 1869
Last will and testament of Victoria Higuera de Aguilar, wife of Casildo Aguilar, dated August 19, 
1869 Document

F.A.13.68-936 November 23, 1868 Deed from Charles E. Hale to M. D. Brundige, Nov.23, 1868 Document
F.A.13.68-937 January 19, 1868 Marriage license of S. H. Mott and Alice Williamson, January 19, 1868. Document

F.A.13.68-943 March 22, 1875
Deed — J. [James] B. Winston to T.D. [Thomas Dillingham] Mott and S. Lazard, March 22, 
1875 Document

F.A.13.68-944 March 3, 1874

Deed — Casildo Aguilar, et al. to T.D. [Thomas Dillingham] Mott, March 3, 1874
Deed between Casildo Aguilar, Dolores Aguilar, Juan La Croix and Francisca Aguilar de La 
Croix, his wife, Andres Ramirez, and Natividad Aguilar de Ramirez, his wife, and Thomas D. 
Mott Document

F.A.13.68-945 October 31, 1881 Deed — Isaias W. [William] Hellman to Thomas D. [Dillingham] Mott, October 31, 1881 Document
F.A.13.68-946 January 17, 1888 Deed — George Kerckhoff to Thomas D. [Dillingham] Mott, January 17, 1888 Document

F.A.13.68-947 January 8, 1910
Grant Deed — W.H. [William Harrison] and Flora B. [Baldwin] Holliday to Georgie Van der 
Leck, January 8, 1910 Document

F.A.13.68-948 February 25, 1910
Grant Deed — J.C. [James Calhoun] and Fannie Wilcox Drake to Georgie Van der Leck, 
February 25, 1910 Document

F.A.13.68-949 August 4, 1897 Quitclaim Deed — Turell T. Bradshaw to Thomas D. [Dillingham] Mott, August 4, 1897 Document
F.A.13.68-950 January 21, 1874 Quitclaim Deed — F.P.F. [Francis Pliny Fisk] Temple to Casildo Aguilar, January 21, 1874 Document
F.A.13.68-951 June 28, 1901 Lease – T.D. [Thomas Dillingham] Mott to H.C. Jacobson, June 28, 1901 Document
F.A.13.68-952 March 30, 1901 Lease – T.D. [Thomas Dillingham] Mott to The Los Angeles Brewing Co., March 30, 1901 Document

F.A.13.68-953 June 28, 1901 Lease – Mrs. A. Hunley to Sum Sing Kee, June 28, 1901.  "Said lot to be used for a laundry." Document

F.A.13.68-954 July 14, 1885 Party Wall Agreement – Thomas E. Rowan with Thomas D. [Dillingham] Mott, July 14, 1885 Document

F.A.13.68-955 January 22, 1874
Deed – The Mayor and Common Council of the City of Los Angeles to Casildo Aguilar, January 
22, 1874 Document

F.A.13.68-956 November 3, 1865 Deed – T.D. [Thomas Dillingham] Mott to Francisca [Sepulveda de] Carrillo, November 3, 1865 Document
F.A.13.68-957 December 7, 1881 Deed – W.N. Hutchinson to Thomas D. [Dillingham] Mott, December 7, 1881 Document
F.A.13.68-958 August 17, 1887 Deed – Stephen H. [Hathaway] Mott to Thomas D. [Dillingham] Mott, August 17, 1887 Document
F.A.13.68-959 August 17, 1887 Deed – Stephen H. [Hathaway] Mott to Thomas D. [Dillingham] Mott, August 17, 1887 Document
F.A.13.68-960 March 13, 1875 Deed – E. [Emey] E. Smith to Leonard J. Rose, March 13, 1875 Document

F.A.13.68-961 May 12, 1897
Deed of Gift – T.D. [Thomas Dillingham] Mott to A.S. [Ascension Sepulveda] de Mott, May 12, 
1897 Document

F.A.13.68-962 November 14, 1896
Deed of Gift – Thomas D. [Dillingham] Mott to Ascension S. [Sepulveda] de Mott, November 
14, 1896 Document
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F.A.13.68-963 June 1, 1900

Rosary Manual– Tranquilina Sepulveda, June 1900
A 16 page Rosary Manual entitled “The Little Manual of the Most Holy Rosary.”  Tranquilina 
Sepulveda is handwritten at the top of the book and the date is also handwritten. Booklet

F.A.13.68-964 December 3, 1885
Report of Conveyance - T.D. [Thomas Dillingham] Mott to Ascension Sepulveda de Mott, & Jose 
Sepulveda, December 3, 1885.  Concerning lands in Rancho Santiago de Santa Ana. Document

F.A.13.68-965 August 12, 1904
Will - Ascension Sepulveda de Mott, August 12, 1904
1.  Isidore B. Dockweiler Document

F.A.13.68-966 n.d. Petition – Marriage Disposition; Jose Antonio Carrillo and Francisca Sepulveda, n.d. Document

F.A.13.68-967 1897

Account Book – T.D. [Thomas Dillingham] Mott, 1897
A leather covered account book belonging to T.D. Mott.  Embossed cover reads “Farmers & 
Merchants National Bank of Los Angeles, Cal.  In Account with T.D. Mott.  The T.D. Mott is not 
embossed, but instead etched into the leather.  Also the work “National” is crossed out in red ink.  
Some pages are torn out and about half the book is written in with pencil Register

F.A.13.68-968 April 6, 1875

Affidavit –Death of Jose [Antonio Andres] Sepulveda, April 6, 1875 [1885?]
A two page affidavit regarding the death of Don Jose Sepulveda of Los Angeles at Carborca, 
Sonora, Mexico. Document

F.A.13.68-969 September 6, 1879
Assignment –Colin Chisholm to T.D. [Thomas Dillingham] Mott, September 6, 1879
Assignment of an interest of Chisholm’s invention of railroad car couplings to T.D. Mott. Document

F.A.13.68-970 December 26, 1872
Balance Due - T.D. [Thomas Dillingham] Mott to Jose [Antonio Andres] Sepulveda, December 
26, 1872 Document

F.A.13.68-971 October 1, 1898 Billing Statement – C.H. Jorgen, State Agent to T.D. [Thomas Dillingham] Mott, October 1, 1898 Document

F.A.13.68-972 June 27, 1885

Builder’s Contract – T.D. [Thomas Dillingham] Mott with M.S. Baker and Company, June 27, 
1885
A contract between T.D. Mott and M.S. Baker and Company for ironwork at the Mott Market 
designed by Boring and Haas, which also are listed as witnesses. Document

F.A.13.68-973 June 1, 1885

Builder’s Contract – T.D. [Thomas Dillingham] Mott with Cyrus Willard, June 1, 1885
A contract between T.D. Mott and Cyrus Willard for ironwork at the Mott Market designed by 
Boring and Haas, which also are listed as witnesses. Document

F.A.13.68-974 1887 - 1890

Cancelled Checks, 1887-1890
Eleven (11) cancelled checks; nine (9) issued by the Farmers & Merchants Bank and two (2) 
from Los Angeles National Bank.
1)T.D. Mott
2)S.H. Mott
3)J.(?) R. Ramirez
4)Mrs. Eloisa M. Sepulveda
5)E.F. Spence Document

F.A.13.68-975 April 29, 1871

Certificate – Jose Munguia, Presdiente Municipal [Councilman?] to Loreto and Lorenzo Aguayo, 
April 29, 1871
One (1) page certificate from Jose Munguia the Presidente Municipa of Caborcal regarding a 
house that Loreto and Lorenzo Aguayo built in the “new town”
1)Y. Bernal
2)Jose E. Moreno Certificate

F.A.13.68-976 July, 1902

Certificate of Title – Title Insurance and Trust Company to Thomas B. [D.] Mott and Ascension 
S. [Sepulveda] de Mott, July 1902
A five (5) page certificate from the Title Insurance and Trust Company which includes an 
Unlimited Certificate made on the request of Thomas Mott, dated July 10, 1902, and a 
Continuation Certificate made on the request of Ascension S. de Mott, dated July 15, 1902. Certificate

F.A.13.68-977 September 11, 1882

Contingency Contract – Henry Janin and Walter Maxwell, September 11, 1882
A one (1) page contract between Henry Janin and Walter Maxwell.  Witnessed by C.[Charles 
A.[Albert] Baskerville Document

F.A.13.68-978 July 5, 1859
Contract and Lease – Juana Borquez and Antonio Peloncone [Pelanconi], July 5, 1859
A one (1) page double sided contract and lease between Juana Borquez and Antonio Pelanconi. Document

F.A.13.68-979 June 17, 1873

Deed – Lorenzo Aguayo to Jose Sepulveda, June 17, 1873
A four (4) page deed of sale from Lorenzo Aguayo to Jose Sepulveda for a house in “new town” 
Caborca.  Within the deed there is a 2 (two) page letter address to Jose Sepulveda.  All six pages 
are sewn together. Document

F.A.13.68-980 August 8, 1904

Deed – Calvary Cemetery to A.[Ascension] S.[Sepulveda] de Mott, August 8, 1904
A one (1) page deed to lot #745 from Calvary Cemetery to A.S. de Mott. 
NOTE: See also 
1) “Letter-Mrs. Henry van der Leck from Dockweiler & Dockweiler, Sept 16, 1838, and
2) Wills-Ascension Sepulveda de Mott, 1901-1910. Document
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F.A.13.68-981 March 5, 1873
Deed – I.[Isaias] W.[William] Hellman to Ascension S.[Sepulveda] de Mott, March 5, 1873
A three (3) page deed between I.W. Hellman and Ascension S. de Mott.  [Rancho Santa Ana] Document

F.A.13.68-982 August 29, 1908
Deed – Domingo Oyharzabal to Flora B.[Baldwin] Holliday, August 29, 1908
A one (1) page deed between Domingo Oyharzabal and Flora B. Holliday.  [San Juan Capistrano] Document

F.A.13.68-983 July 10, 1902
Deed – John B. and Martha Althouse to Ascension S.[Sepulveda] de Mott, July 10, 1902
A two (2) page deed between John B. Althouse, Martha Althouse and A. S. de Mott. Document

F.A.13.68-984 June 12, 1882
Deed – Francisca A.[Avila] de Sepulveda to A.[Ascension] S.[Sepulveda] de Mott, June 12, 1882
A three (3) page deed between Francisca A. de Sepulveda and A.S. de Mott, her daughter. Document

F.A.13.68-984 A April 10, 1875 Deed – Emma A. Smith to Leonard J. Rose, April 10, 1875 Document

F.A.13.68-985 March 4, 1879
Deed – T.[Thomas] D.[Dillingham] Mott to Ascension S.[Sepulveda] de Mott, March 4, 1879
A three (3) page deed between Francisca A. de Sepulveda and A.S. de Mot Document

F.A.13.68-986 January 16, 1891 Deed – Rosedale Cemetery Association to Henry Van der Leck, January 16, 1891 Document
F.A.13.68-987 August 31, 1839 Deed – Juan Jose Nieto to Juan Bautista Leandry, August 31, 1839 Document

F.A.13.68-988 October 10, 1876
Deed - I.[Isaias] W.[William] Hellman to T. [Thomas] D.[Dillingham] Mott and Ascension 
S.[Sepulveda] de Mott, October 10, 1876 Document

F.A.13.68-989 1908 - 1916 Deposit Slips Document
F.A.13.68-990 n.d. Envelope – Francisca S.[Sepulveda] de Thompson, January 6, [?] Envelope

F.A.13.68-991 September 23, 1878
Envelope – Francisca S.[Sepulveda] de Thompson, In Care of Andronico Sepulveda, September 
23, 1878 Envelope

F.A.13.68-992 n.d. Envelopes Envelope
F.A.13.68-993 n.d. Escrow Statement of Ascension S. de Mott Document
F.A.13.68-994 n.d. Expense Log – Stephen Mott Document
F.A.13.68-995 n.d. Expense Logs Document

F.A.13.68-996 1941
Farm Plan and Performance Report, 1941, for Chonita O'Neill, c/o Georgie Van der Leck, agent, 
on San Juan Capistrano Document

F.A.13.68-997 1935 - 1942
Fire Insurance Policies for Georgie & Vuola Van der Leck; Mrs. Hugh P. O'Neill & Mrs. William 
S. Lantz; Georgie Van der Leck. [San Juan Capistrano] Document

F.A.13.68-998 June 27, 1931

Genealogical Information – Van der Leck, undated.  Also copy excerpt from a letter written by 
Gladys J. Landell of San Juan Capistrano, in 1931, to Mr. Davidson, Curator of the Junipero 
Serra Museum, San Diego, regarding Jose Dolores Sepulveda, Maria Theresa Sepulveda de 
Pryor, and Nathaniel Pryor, June 27, 1931. Chart

F.A.13.68-999 n.d. Holy Week Schedule for Nuestra Senora de Los Angeles Chruch, n.d. Handbill
F.A.13.68-1000 1902 - 1905 Insurance Policies for T.D. Mott and his estate Document
F.A.13.68-1001 1902 - 1903 Insurance Payment Receipts for T.D. Mott, 1902-03, undated Document
F.A.13.68-1002 1905 Insurance Settlement Payment Receipt

F.A.13.68-1003 September 13, 1855
Inventory of Separate Property, Ascension Reyes de Valdez and Julian Valdez, September 13, 
1855 Document

F.A.13.68-1004 January 6, 1863
Inventory of Separate Property, Andrea Ballesteros de Lugo, wife of Vicente Lugo, January 6, 
1863 Document

F.A.13.68-1005 March 18, 1872

Invitation – Funeral of Soledad F. Coronel de Yndart, March 18, 1872.
1) Francisco Yndart, son
2) Antonio F. Coronel, brother
3) Manuel F. Coronel, brother
4) Ygnacio Sepulveda
5) John G. Downey
6) T.A. Sanchez
7) Cristobal Aguilar Invitation

F.A.13.68-1006 October 29, 1855

Invitation – Hebrew Benevolent Society Ball to Mrs. Sepulveda, October 29, 1855.  1) S.K. 
Labatt
2) H. Newmark
3) S. Lazard
4) J.L. Morris
5) Jacob Elias
6) C. Shachno
7) H. Goldberg Invitation

F.A.13.68-1007 March 14, 1890 Judgment - State of California vs. W.W. Knott, March 14, 1890 Document

F.A.13.68-1008 September 16, 1938

Letter – Mrs. Henry Van der Leck from Dockweiler and Dockweiler, September 16, 1938 
regarding estate of Ascension Sepulveda de Mott, deceased
NOTE: Also see
1) Wills – Ascension Sepulveda de Mott, 1901-1910 four (4) page deed 2) Deed – Calvary 
Cemetery to A.S. de Mott Document
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F.A.13.68-1009 n.d.

Typed transcript – Jurgen Van der Leck to [brother] Lorenz Van der Leck, September 16, 1858
NOTE: Also see
1) Letters (4) – Lorenz Van der Leck (father) to Lorenz Van der Leck (son), November 29, 1851-
October 10, 1856 Transcript

F.A.13.68-1010 n.d.

Typed transcripts (4) – Lorenz Van der Leck (father) to Lorenz Van der Leck (son), November 
29, 1851-October 10, 1856
NOTE: Also see
1) Letters- Jurgen Van der Leck to [brother] Lorenz Van der Leck, September 16, 1858 Transcript

F.A.13.68-1011 n.d.

Lot Map – C.[Cristobal] Aguilar’s lot on Main Street
1) John Wilson
2) A.J. Hutchinson Map

F.A.13.68-1012 September 15, 1890

Memorandum of Indebtness – T.[Thomas] D. [Dillingham] Mott to S.[Stephen] H.[Hathaway] 
Mott. September 15, 1890
NOTE: Also see
1) Memorandum – T.D. Mott- #895 Document

F.A.13.68-1013 April 19, 1853
Mortgage – Rallalos [concerning Concepcion Navarro] to Leon Victor Prudhomme [and Luis 
Lamoreaux], April 19, 1853 Document

F.A.13.68-1014 n.d.

Notebook – Francisca [Leona] Sepulveda [Carrillo Thompson], n.d.
1) Tomasa de Rico
2) Francisco Sepulveda
3) Ysabel Sepulveda
4) Jose Antonio Carrillo Booklet

F.A.13.68-1015 March 3, 1916

Payment Receipt – Caroline A. Lankershim to A.[Ascension] S.[Sepulveda] de Mott, March 3, 
1916
NOTE: Also see
1) Settlement of Estate – Mrs. Mott, March 3, 1916 Receipt

F.A.13.68-1016 September 1, 1898 Payment Receipt – [?] to T.[Thomas] D. [Dillingham] Mott, September 1, 1898 Receipt
F.A.13.68-1017 January 21, 1849 Payment Receipt – J.[Jose] A. [Antonio] Carrillo to Enrique Dalton, January 21, 1849 Receipt

F.A.13.68-1018 1837 - 1878

Plana [Page] – Written by Francisca Sepulveda de Thompson, December 1837
A plana written by Francisca Sepulveda in December 1837, but then presented to Francisca 41 
years later on April 11, 1878 by Ygnacio and Ysabel Del Valle in celebration of Francisca’s 52nd 
birthday. Manuscript

F.A.13.68-1019 June 10, 1899

Promissory Note – T.[Thomas] D.[Dillingham] Mott and [Walter] S. Maxwell to State Bank and 
Trust Company of Los Angeles, June 10, 1899
A promissory note to State Bank and Trust Company from T.D. Mott and Walter S. Maxwell.  
The note actually has State Loan and Trust Company, however the word “Loan” was crossed out 
and “Bank” was written in. Document

F.A.13.68-1020 November 25, 1914

Promissory Note – A.[Ascension] S. [Sepulveda] de Mott to Isidore B. Dockweiler, November 
25, 1914
NOTE: Also see
1) Settlement of Estate – Mrs. Mott, March 3, 1916
2) Receipt – Mrs. A.S. Mott to Ann Fay Leeds, March 3, 1916
3) Scrap of Paper – Mrs. Mott to Ann Fay Leeds, 1916 Document

F.A.13.68-1021 November 24, 1900 Promissory Note – [Walter] S. Maxwell to Henry Van der Leck, November 24, 1900 Document

F.A.13.68-1022 1885 - 1890
Promissory Notes – S.[Stephen] H.[Hathaway] Mott and T.[Thomas] D.[Dillingham] Mott to 
First National Bank of Los Angeles, 1885-90 Document

F.A.13.68-1023 November 20, 1913
Promissory Note – A.[Ascension] S.[Sepulveda] de Mott to President and Board of Trustees of 
Saint Vincent’s College, November 20, 1913 Document

F.A.13.68-1024 May 8, 1914
Promissory Note – A.[Ascension] S.[Sepulveda] de Mott to Caroline A.[Adelaide] Lankershim, 
May 8, 1914 Document

F.A.13.68-1025 September 8, 1898
Promissory Note – Henry & Georgie Van der Leck, and T.[Thomas] D.[Dillingham] & 
A.[Ascension] S.[Sepulveda] Mott to Farmers & Merchants’ Bank, September 8, 1898 Document

F.A.13.68-1026 October 9, 1915

Promissory Note – A.[Ascension] S.[Sepulveda] de Mott to Merchants National Bank of Los 
Angeles, October 9, 1915
1) Ascension Sepulveda de Mott
2) Merchant’s National Bank of Los Angeles
3) Ygnacio Leon Mott Document

F.A.13.68-1027 May 1, 1913 Promissory Note – A.[Ascension] S.[Sepulveda] de Mott to John G.[Griffin] Mott, May 1, 1913 Document

F.A.13.68-1028 November 30, 1908 Promissory Note – Ascension S.[Sepulveda] de Mott to Frances Steinike, November 30, 1908 Document

F.A.13.68-1029 August 18, 1887
Promissory Note – S.[Stephen] H.[Hathaway] Mott to Thomas D.[Dillingham] Mott, August 18, 
1887 Document

F.A.13.68-1030 August 17, 1887
Promissory Note – Thomas D.[Dillingham] Mott to S.[Stephen] H.[Hathaway] Mott, August 17, 
1887 Document
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F.A.13.68-1031 November 25, 1911
Promissory Note [Cancelled]– A.[Ascension] S.[Sepulveda] de Mott to Anna F.[Fay] Leeds, 
November 25, 1911 Document

F.A.13.68-1032 1885 - 1887

Promissory Notes – S.[Stephen] H.[Hathaway] Mott and Thomas D.[Dillingham] Mott to Los 
Angeles National Bank, 1885-87
NOTE: Also see Expense Log – Stephen Mott Document

F.A.13.68-1033 March 3, 1916

Promissory Note – A.[Ascension] S.[Sepulveda] de Mott to Frances Steinike, June 5, 1911
NOTE: Also see
Settlement of Estate – Mrs. Mott, March 3, 1916
Receipt – Mrs. A.S. de Mott from Frances Steinike, March 3, 1916 Document

F.A.13.68-1034 January 18, 1910 Receipt – Henry Van der Leck from Orange County Title Company, January 18, 1910 Receipt

F.A.13.68-1035 March 3, 1916

Receipt – Mrs. A.[Ascension] S.[Sepulveda] de Mott from Frances Steinike, March 3, 1916
NOTE: Also see
Settlement of Estate – Mrs. Mott, March 3, 1916
Receipt – Mrs. A.S. de Mott from Frances Steinike, June 5, 1911 Receipt

F.A.13.68-1036 March 3, 1916

Receipt – Mrs. A.[Ascension] S.[Sepulveda] de Mott from Anna Fay Leeds, March 3, 1916
NOTE: Also see
1) Scrap of Paper – Mrs. Mott to Anna Fay Leeds, 1916
2) Settlement of Estate – Mrs. Mott, March 3, 1916
3) Promissory Note Mrs. A.S. de Mott to Isidore B. Dockweiler, November 25, 1916 Receipt

F.A.13.68-1037 August 25, 1933

Release of Mortgage – Ascension Sepulveda de Mott to Security Trust and Savings Bank, August 
25, 1933
1) Georgiana Francisca Van der Leck
2) Dockweiler & Dockweiler
3) Ascension Sepulveda de Mott Document

F.A.13.68-1038 1843 - 1887

Religious Ephemera, 1843 - c. 1887, undated.
Includes Exhortacion Pastoral, En La Imprenta De Torras Y Fossas:  Santa Barbara, 1858.  One 
item printed in French. Leaflet

F.A.13.68-1039 1916

Scrap of Paper – Mrs. Mott to Anna Fay Leeds, 1916
NOTE: Also see
1) Settlement of Estate – Mrs. Mott, March 3, 1916
2) Receipt – Mrs. A.S. Mott to Ann Fay Leeds, March 3, 1916
3) Promissory Notes – A.S. de Mott to Isidore B. Dockweiler, November 25, 1914 Manuscript

F.A.13.68-1040 March 3, 1916

Settlement of Estate – Mrs. Mott, March 3, 1916
NOTE: Also see
1) Receipt – Mrs. A.S. Mott from Frances Steinike, Macrh 3, 1916
2) Receipt – Mrs. A.S. Mott to Ann Fay Leeds, March 3, 1916
3) Promissory Notes – A.S. de Mott to Isidore B. Dockweiler, November 25, 1914
4) Scrap of Paper – Mrs. Mott to Ann Fay Leeds, 1916
5) Promissory Note – A.S. de Mott to Frances Steinike, June 5, 1911
6) Payment Recept – Caroline A. Lankershim to A.S. de Mott, March 3, 1916 Document

F.A.13.68-1041 n.d.
Statement – Thomas D.[Dillingham] Mott, undated.  Regarding a disputed business agreement 
between he and Mr. Hall of plans for a county jail. Transcript

F.A.13.68-1042 November 25, 1911
Stocks – Purchased by Henry and Georgia Van der Leck, Capistrano Water Company, November 
25, 1911 Certificate, Stock

F.A.13.68-1043 December 21, 1885 Transfer Permission – Remains of Jose [Antonio Andres] Sepulveda, December 21, 1885 Manuscript
F.A.13.68-1044 January 28, 1903 Water Analysis on Santa Margarita Ranch, January 28, 1903 Document

F.A.13.68-1045 1901 - 1923

Wills – Ascension Sepulveda de Mott, 1901-1910
Four wills with three of them in envelopes:

1)  Original will with envelope from Isidore B. Dockweiler (May 17, 1910).
2)  Last will and testament with envelope from Isidore B. Dockweiler and addressed to John 
Griffin Mott and Herny Van der Leck (October 15, 1906).
3)  Copy of will dated February 10, 1916 with envelope from the Law Offices of Dockweiler & 
Dockweiler & Finch and is addressed to Ygnacio L. Mott postmarked  December 31, 1923.
4)  Will is hand written and is dated May 31, 1901.

NOTE: Also see
1) Deed – Calvary Cemetery to A.S. de Mott 
2) Letter – Mrs. Henry Van der Leck from Dockweiler and Dockeweiler, September 16, 1938 Document
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F.A.13.68-1046 1939 - 1944

Workmen’s Compensation Employer’s Liability Policies - Mrs. Georgia [Georgiana] Van der 
Leck.
Three standard workmen’s compensation and employer’s liability policies dated November 13, 
1939-1940, November 13, 1940-1941, and November 13, 1943-44.  All issued by Pacific 
Indemnity Company.  Brokers for two of the policies was Lucas C. Wall Company, and the other 
was Cosgrove & Company, Inc. Document

F.A.13.68-1047 April 1, 1852
Writ of Execution – Aaron Pollard vs. Hugo Reid, April 1, 1852
1) J.R. Barton Document

F.A.13.68-1048
Property Tax Receipts – T. [Thomas] D.[Dillingham] Mott, 1899-1906
Includes receipts for both first and second payments. Receipt

[A.9027] n.d. Envelope addresed to Mrs. Francisco Carrillo, undated. Envelope

A.9027.82-13 n.d.
Letter from Ascension Sepulveda to her brother-in-law, probably Captain John Salisbury Haley, 
who married her sister Ramona on October 31, 1854.  Undated. Manuscript

A.9027.82-16 February 18, 1904

Letter from Thomas D. Mott to Georgie Mott Van der Leck, February 18, 1904.  Personal family 
news; reference to a funeral, household bills, family sickness, etc.  Postscript by Ascension 
Sepulveda de Mott, signed "Mama Chonita"; T.D. Mott signed "Papa." Manuscript

A.9027.82-18 n.d.
Genealogy chart showing descendants of Francisco Sepulveda and Ramona Serrano to about 
1950.  Several omissions, misspellings. [In MC-17] Chart

A.9027.82-20 April 1889

Magazine, The Golden Era, issue of April, 1889, Volume 38, Number 4.  Articles on Arizona and 
California, featuring San Diego, including San Diego ads.  Published by the Golden Era Co., San 
Diego. Magazine

A.9027.82-21 1865 - 1885

Scrapbook of newspaper clippings collected by Thomas Dillingham Mott between the 1860s and 
1880s.  Several clippings relate to the earlier political career of Mott in Los Angeles.  Some 
family notes, of which a few are from New York concerning other members of the Mott family 
there. Scrapbook

July 14, 1883 Abstract of title of property of Lorenzo Van Der Leck.  [Covers years prior to 1883].
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